THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHALND COUNTY
Richland County Circuit Court
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000951

RECEIVED

Jun 30 2020

SC Court of Appeals

K.S., a minor, by and through his Guardian ad Litem, James Seeger.....Appellants

v.

Richland School District Two.....Respondent

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

THE LAW OFFICES OF JASON E. TAYLOR, P.C.

Brian C. Gambrell (SC Bar # 68253):
810 Dutch Square Blvd, Suite 112
Columbia, SC 29210
Telephone: (800) 351-3008
Facsimile: (803) 610-1931
bgambrell@jasonetaylor.com
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in granting a directed verdict to the Respondent?
- II. Does South Carolina require a plaintiff in a negligence action to prove a significant physical injury in conjunction with mental health injuries?
- III. Did the trial court err in excluding the testimony of Appellant's expert witness?
- IV. Does the Safe School Climate Act waive the South Carolina Tort Claims Act under the facts of the instant action?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant filed the initial complaint on January 18, 2017. (R. p. 18-31) Respondent filed an answer on February 21, 2017. (R. p. 32-39) Appellant filed an amended complaint on March 16, 2017, and the Respondent filed an amended answer on April 3, 2017. (R. p. 40-59.) Respondent filed a motion in limine to exclude Appellant's expert from testifying on February 7, 2019. (R. p. 64-70.) Respondent also filed a motion for summary judgment on February 28, 2019. (R. p. 87-88.) The parties submitted memoranda of law which briefed the subjects for trial. (R. p. 71-86, R. p. 89-131.) The instant action was called for trial on May 28, 2019. The trial judge heard and denied Respondent's motions at the beginning of trial. The trial judge also heard and rejected arguments raised in Appellant's pre-trial brief that the South Carolina Tort Claims Act had been repealed by the later adoption of the Safe Schools Climate Act.

After three days of trial, the trial judge directed a verdict on May 30, 2019 finding:

THE COURT: Moreover, I don't even know that the touching on October 20th satisfies physical injury. Black's Law Dictionary defines physical injury as physical damage to a person's body. There has been no testimony of any damage to Kian's person. In fact, I believe there was testimony that -- that there were no physical scars, or no one saw anything, or at least there's no affirmative testimony that there was any damage to his body. I could touch the hood of your car. That might be an unwanted touching. Maybe a car is a bad thing, because it's not so closely to the person that it'd be an assault. But I'll use it as an example. I can touch it, or I can scratch it with my key. One is damage, and the other is not. An unwanted touching would be an assault for which Ms. Moody would be liable. And when we talk about damages in -- in these kinds of cases -- let's see. Ralph King Anderson's charge -- and he cites some cases. But (As read): **"An injured party may recover for mental anguish brought about by bodily injury and suffering."**

(R. p. 453-454)(Emphasis added.)

The trial issued a Form 4 on June 7, 2019. (R. p. 1-3.) The instant appeal was filed on June 11, 2019. (R. p. 132-133.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the circuit court's ruling on a directed verdict motion, this court must apply the same standard as the circuit court “by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 27-28, 602 S.E.2d 772, 782 (2004). An appellate court will reverse the circuit court's ruling on a directed verdict motion only when there is no evidence to support the ruling or when the ruling is controlled by an error of law. Law v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 368 S.C. 424, 434-35, 629 S.E.2d 642, 648 (2006). “When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper.” Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 22, 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (Ct. App. 2006). “On the other hand, the [circuit] court must deny a motion for a directed verdict when the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt.” Id. “When considering a directed verdict motion, neither the [circuit] court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence.” Burnett v. Family Kingdom, Inc., 387 S.C. 183, 188-89, 691 S.E.2d 170, 173 (Ct. App. 2010).

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight. Hopper v. Terry Hunt Constr., 373 S.C. 475, 479–80, 646 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct. App. 2007) “Certain situations involve mixed question of law and fact. Statutory interpretation is a question of law. But whether the facts of a case were correctly applied to a statute is a question of fact. Bursey v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 369 S.C. 176, 185, 631 S.E.2d 899, 904 (2006), overruled on other grounds by Allison v. W.L. Gore & Assocs., 394 S.C. 185, 714 S.E.2d 547 (2011).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

K.S. was a first grader at Respondent's North Springs Elementary ("North Springs") in the fall of 2011. K.S. attended kindergarten at North Springs, and he had no disciplinary or behavioral issues that year. (R. p. 435, lines 3-7.) K.S. loved kindergarten and had no issues going to school. (R. p. 152, line 21-p. 153, line 10; p. 179, line 19-p. 180, line 9.) Prior to first grade, K.S. was a normal five year old boy without anxiety issues. (R. p. 435, line 14-22) K.S.'s mother, Gina, is employed by Respondent as the attendance secretary at North Springs at the beginning K.S.'s first grade year. (R. p. 434, lines 13-21.) K.S.'s father, James, is a retired U.S. Army Master Sergeant. (R. p. 173, lines 17-20.)

K.S. was assigned to Jan Moody's (hereinafter "Moody") first grade class¹. (R. p. 163, lines 14-15.) Mr. & Mrs. Seeger testified that K.S. began to cry before going to school just a few weeks into his first grade school year. (R. p. 181, line 23-p. 181, line 12; p. 437, lines 13-22.) K.S.'s crying was described by his mother as "shaking upset." (R. p. 439, lines 15-24.) K.S. also complained of stomach aches as an excuse not to go to school. (R. p. 437, line 23-p. 419, line 5.) K.S.'s crying was described by his father as "deep breathing and sobbing. The look in his eye was of fear." (R. p. 182, line 25-p. 183, line 8.)

The Seegers then reached out to Moody and the school administration to find out what was causing K.S.'s crying, apprehension, and terror regarding school. Ms. Germann, an assistant principal and the grade level administrator, told Mrs. Seeger that K.S. was a "mama's boy and he misses his mom, and he wants an excuse to come see you." (R. p. 118, lines 9-15) The Seegers set up a parent teacher conference with Moody. Mr. Seeger also sent K.S. little notes of encouragement, and ate lunch with K.S. in the cafeteria. (R. p. 616-617; R. p. 184, lines 5-24; p.

¹ K.S. is now in the 9th grade.

214, lines 20-24.) Moody gave the appearance of wanting to help. (R. p. 443, lines 6-8.) Mr. Seeger thought Moody was a nice person and had no idea that she was the problem until later. (R. p. 214, lines 7-17.)

Mr. & Mrs. Seeger finally learned of Moody's inappropriate conduct towards K.S. because of an incident that occurred in the school cafeteria on October 20, 2011 (hereinafter 'the cafeteria incident.') K.S. accidentally dropped his tray of food in the cafeteria as he was leaving the line. Cafeteria worker Belinda Fenwick later gave the following written statement to North Spring's principal Dr. David Holzendorf:

"I then told him [K.S.] to go and get another lunch tray, and he went back through the serving line and come out with a corn dog. His teacher Ms. Moody approached him very harshly to go and get another tray. [...] I observed his teacher (Ms. Moody) **grab him very forcefully by his arm** and tell him as she was walking him with him back to the table '**I will give you something to cry for.**' I feel that no student should ever be treated the way he was treated.

(R. p. 587-588)(Emphasis added)

At trial, K.S. testified as follows:

Q Okay. Now, I mentioned the cafeteria. Tell the --tell the jury what happened in the cafeteria.

A I was going through the lunch line with my corn dog and a drink. And once I walked out, I handed the lunch lady my ticket to buy the lunch. And when I saw Ms. Moody, I dropped my tray. And then when the lunch ladies came over and helped me clean it up and Ms. Moody started walking over, and then **she grabbed my arm** and told me to go get another corn dog. So I went through and just grabbed a corn dog. And then she yelled at me to go get a tray. So I went and got a tray. And then the lady, like, took the other meal off and put that meal on. So then she grabbed my arm took me to another table, where I sat alone.

Q Okay. When -- when you're talking about her grabbing your arm, what -- can you tell the jury exactly how it happened?

A **She would claw my arm with her nails.**

Q **Did it hurt?**

A **Yes.**

Q **Did it make you feel good that she was doing that, or did it make you more scared?**

A **Made me more scared.**

Q Do you remember her saying anything to you in the --in -- in the

cafeteria?

A Yes.

Q Okay. What do you remember her saying?

A **She said, "Stop crying or I'll make you something to cry about."**

(R. p. 158, line 13-p. 159, line 17.)(Emphasis added.)

The encounter was also captured on the school's video surveillance system. Both Mr. Seeger and Dr. Holzendorf testified as to their recollection of what the video showed². Mr. Seeger testified that the grab was "forceful grab and pull." (R. p. 189, lines 10-16.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that he could not determine Moody's forcefulness but that the video confirmed Ms. Fenwick's observation of physical contact. (R. p. 379, lines 11-21.) Mrs. Seeger learned from the school nurse that something involving K.S. and Moody had happened in the cafeteria. (R. p. 441, 16-22.) Mrs. Seeger then informed her husband. (R. p. 441, line 25-p. 423, line 4.) Mr. Seeger testified that K.S. began "bawling" when he saw him after the cafeteria incident. (R. p. 187, lines 21-23³) The Seegers then brought this incident to the attention of Dr. Holzendorf and demanded a response. (R. p. 189, line 20-pg. 190, line 7.) When he was being lead to his new classroom, K.S. began to cry because he said "Moody's in the hallway." (R. p. 190, lines 16-25.)

Unknown to K.S.'s parents but known to Respondent, Moody was in a downward spiral of unprofessional conduct in the fall of 2011. On September 29, 2011, two members of the school staff, Media Specialist Tabitha Glover and her assistant, Susan Garris, witnessed Moody act inappropriately towards a different, unidentified student ("Student A.") Both Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris considered Moody's interaction with Student A to be a violation of the Respondent's anti-bullying policy, Policy JICFAA and JICFAA-R (hereinafter "JICFAA." (R. p. 551-556, 581-582, 585-587.)

² The video was not entered into evidence or shown to the jury.

³ The trial transcript contains a scrivener's error. Mr. Seeger testified "immediately" not "immunity."

JICFAA prohibits “acts of harassment, intimidation or bullying of a student by students, staff and third parties” that “interfere with or disrupt a student's ability to learn and the school's responsibility to educate its students in a safe and orderly environment.” (R. p. 551-556.) Harassment, intimidation and bullying are defined by JICFAA and the South Carolina Safe School Climate Act⁴ as

a gesture, an electronic communication, or a written, **verbal, physical**, or sexual act that **is reasonably perceived to have the effect of:**

(a) **harming a student** physically **or emotionally** or damaging a student's property, **or placing a student in reasonable fear of personal harm** or property damage; **or**

(b) **insulting or demeaning a student** or group of students **causing substantial disruption in, or substantial interference** with, the orderly operation of the school.

(R. p. 552)(Emphasis added.)

Both Glover and Garris observed Moody humiliating Student A in front of Moody's entire class by saying “Oh my gosh, there is no way you can read that book,[sic] you will not be able to read word one in that book, so [sic] so put it back and pick out another one.” (R. p. 581-582, 585-586) Ms. Glover testified that Moody **yelled** that comment loud enough that the entire class heard her contact. (R. p. 237, lines 14-25.)(Emphasis added.) Ms. Garris testified that Moody's statement was so loud that she (Garris) and Moody's entire class heard it in the large media center. (R. p. 252, lines 8-25.) Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris thought the comment was very embarrassing to Student A, inappropriate, and intimidating. (R. p. 180, lines 1-9; pg. 182, lines 22-24; pg. 204, line 8-pg. 205, line 5.) Ms. Glover testified that she felt “distracted” even thinking about how Moody spoke to Student A. (R. p. 238, lines 17-25.) Ms. Glover reported Student A responded to Moody's outburst by crying when Moody embarrassed him in front of his entire class. (R. p. 239, lines 12-22; p. 249, lines 4-7.) JICFAA requires all employees of Respondent to report violations to the

⁴ S.C. Code § 59-63-120(1)

school's principal. (R. p. 551-556.) Both testified that they immediately reported the September 29th incident to Dr. Holzendorf. (R. p. 241, lines 11-19; p. 252, line 16-p. 253, line 3.)

Dr. Holzendorf recalled that he had spoken to both Ms. Garris and Ms. Glover regarding the September 29th incident involving Student A. (R. p. 354, lines 7-20) Dr. Holzendorf testified that he thought Moody's comments to Student A did not serve a legitimate education purpose and were "demeaning." (R. p. 354, lines 6-16.) Dr. Holzendorf acknowledged that Moody's comments emotionally harmed Student A and fit one of the definitions of bullying under the district's policy. (R. p. 551-556; R. p. 356, line 19-pg. 357, line 3.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that he could not recall whether he had spoken with Moody, the grade level administrator, Student A, Student A's parents, or any of the other students in Moody's class which would have included K.S. (R. p. 350, lines 8-15; p. 366, line 24-p. 367, line 10) Dr. Holzendorf could not recall any of the actions that he had taken that would be consistent with the "prompt and thorough investigation" of the incident involving Student A as required by JICFAA. (R. p. 532-537; R. p. 357, lines 4-12.) Dr. Holzendorf's contemporaneously made notes did not reflect any sort of interactions with Moody regarding the September 29th incident. (R. p. 635-654; R. p. 349, line 22-p. 350, line 6.) Dr. Holzendorf conceded that the lack of documentation meant it was "likely" he did not even speak to Moody about the September 29th incident. (R. p. 635-654; R. p. 343, line 22-p. 344, line 6.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that at the time in his judgment he did not feel the September 29th incident warranted action. (R. p. 393, lines 16-21.) Holzendorf admitted he began an investigation of Moody on October 20th, and not September 29th. (R. p. 380, lines 8-11.) Dr. Holzendorf also admitted that he did not impose any of the required sanctions on Moody for violating JICFAA on September 29, 2011. (R. p. 551-556; p. 393, line 4-21.)

Dr. Karen Lovett, Respondent's Executive director for human resources, testified she did

not know about the September 29th incident involving Student A until much later. (R. p. 396, line 19-p. 397, line 3; p. 398, lines 19-22.) Dr. Lovett was of the opinion—after much prodding—that the September 29th incident violated JICFAA. (R. p. 398, line 19-p. 401, line 18.) Dr. Lovett also testified that the statement on September 29th was embarrassing to Student A. (R. p. 402, lines 10-14.) Dr. Lovett testified—again after much prodding—that Dr. Holzendorf should have initiated an investigation of Moody and contacted the district after receiving the September 29th incident report. (R. p.655-661; R. p. 404, line 22-p. 405, line 13.) Dr. Lovett also acknowledged that waiting 21 days to investigate the allegations of Moody’s misconduct did not fit the definition of “promptly” and was not reasonable. (R. p. 406, lines 3-14.) Dr. Lovett also testified that she did not see any evidence of a “thorough” investigation of the September 29th incident as required by JICFAA. (R. p. 406, line 15-p. 408, line 8.) Moody stated to Dr. Holzendorf and Dr. Lovett when Respondent finally started its investigation that the September 29th incident occurred on a “very dark, ugly day” in her life. (R. p. 416, lines 1-14; R. p. 609-613). This “very dark, ugly day” was part of the personal issues which Dr. Lovett testified was one of the reasons Respondent took action against Moody. (R. p. 412, line 21-pg. 414, line 6.)

The second incident involving Moody—and the first incident documented by Respondent between Moody and K.S.—occurred on October 10, 2011 (“the October 10th incident.”) Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris again witnessed Moody act inappropriately towards K.S. regarding his crying. Ms. Glover wrote that Moody stated when her class arrived “in a loud tone ‘Don’t give K.S. any special treatment or praise. He has been crying non-stop in the classroom all day, and he does not deserve anything.’” (R. p. 585-586.) Ms. Garris wrote that Moody loudly proclaimed when she came back to the media center after hearing that K.S. had behaved normally “Of course he’s good for you, he has cried all day in my class.” (R. p. 583-584.) Ms. Glover testified the

incident involving K.S. occurred either the next time or the second time Moody's class came to the media center after the September 29th incident. (R. p. 244 line 15-pg. 245, line 6.) Ms. Glover elaborated on the incident in her trial testimony that Moody's statement was said loudly in front of the whole class. (R. p. 244, line 17-p. 245, line 9.) Ms. Glover observed K.S. immediately put his head down and begin to sob. (R. p. 245, lines 10-16.)

Ms. Glover testified unequivocally that she informed Dr. Holzendorf of the October 10th incident within 24 hours after observing Moody's treatment of K.S. (R. p. 246, line 10-p. 247, line 15.) Ms. Garris testified that she hand delivered her written report regarding the October 10th incident directly to Dr. Holzendorf on or about October 10th or 11th. (R. p. 255, line 18-p. 256, line 12.) Dr. Holzendorf's recollection was the meeting with Ms. Glover occurred sometime after the cafeteria incident. (R. p. 358, line 19-p. 359, line 20.) Mr. Seeger had no idea the October 10th incident had even occurred until much later. (R. p. 196, lines 4-10.) Moody did not deny the incident on October 10th or her statement in the media center regarding K.S. when questioned about it by Dr. Lovett on November 3, 2011. (R. p. 489, lines 14-17; R. p. 601-604.) Dr. Lovett also testified that Dr. Holzendorf should have started an investigation on October 10th if he had received the complaints from Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris. (R. p. 411, lines 14-21.)

On October 18, 2011, Dr. Holzendorf documented a meeting that occurred between Moody and himself. (R. p. 596-597.) In that meeting, Moody informed Dr. Holzendorf that K.S. had been crying in her classroom "for the last three weeks." (R. p. 596-597.) Dr. Holzendorf testified at trial that "for the last three weeks" would have put the beginning of the crying episodes into sometime in September. (R. p. 370, lines 10-15.) The "for the last three weeks" would have placed the beginning of K.S.'s crying before the first incident involving Student A. And yet, Dr. Holzendorf still did nothing. Dr. Holzendorf elaborated that he thought the "missing his dad" statement was in

relation to a deployment by Mr. Seeger. (R. p. 368, lines 1-24; p. 394, lines 3-17.) Dr. Holzendorf was unaware of Mr. Seeger's deployment status and took no steps to find out. (R. p. 375, lines 3-17.) The only time Mr. Seeger was ever deployed overseas occurred during Operation Desert Storm long before K.S. was born. (R. p. 175, lines 14-15.) Mr. Seeger did travel within the United States for work, but K.S. had never experienced any episodes of crying while Mr. Seeger was traveling. (R. p. 177, line 15-p. 177, line 23.) Dr. Holzendorf admitted that he did not consult with the school counselor, Ms. Williams, regarding K.S.'s crying. (R. p. 369, lines 7-9; p. 371, lines 10-21.)

Dr. Holzendorf finally initiated an investigation into Moody's conduct after the October 20th cafeteria incident. (R. p. 601-627.) A recorded recollection prepared by Dr. Lovett contains the following statement from Dr. Holzendorf:

DH: Through different incidents, those statements came out as we were expanding our investigation. The media specialist came to me that day, concerned about the tone Ms. Moody used. I didn't put the two situations together until later.

(R. p. 612.)

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