**RECEIVED**

**Jul 15 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals**

---

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas**

**Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge**

---

**C.A. No.: 2019-000951**

---

K.S., a minor, by and through his Guardian ad Litem, James Seeger.....Appellants

v.

Richland School District Two..... Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

HALLIGAN MAHONEY WILLIAMS SMITH  
FAWLEY & REAGLE, PA

Thomas K. Barlow, S.C. Bar No. 8995  
tbarlow@hmwlegal.com

Sheneka S. Lodenquai, S.C. Bar No. 102304  
slodenquai@hmwlegal.com

1301 Gervais Street, Suite 1400  
P.O. Box 11367  
Columbia, SC 29211

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

## V. ARGUMENTS

### A. **The Trial Court Properly Granted Richland Two's Motion For Directed Verdict On The Ground That K.S. Could Not Recover Damages For Purely Emotional Injury On A Gross Negligence Claim.**

---

South Carolina appellate courts have recognized only three ways that a plaintiff may recover damages for emotional distress in a tort case: (1) when it accompanies a physical injury, such as in a car accident, (2) by way of a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress or outrage where severe emotional distress occurs as a result of extreme and outrageous conduct by the defendant; see *Ford v. Hutson*, 276 S.C. 157, 276 S.E.2d 776 (1981); *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of South Carolina*, 374 S.C. 352, 650 S.E.2d 68, 70 (2007), and (3) negligent infliction of emotional distress in the bystander context, first recognized in *Kinard*, 286 S.C. at 582, 336 S.E.2d at 467. The development of South Carolina law regarding the recovery of damages for purely emotional distress is clearly outlined in Judge Roger Young's order in *Latham v. Latham*, 2014 WL 10417616 (Ct. Com. Pl. 2014). See also, *Pope v. Barnwell Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 19*, No. 1:16-CV-01627-JMC, 2017 WL 1148741, at \*11 (D.S.C. Mar. 28, 2017) (no general negligence cause of action for alleged emotional distress only). The primary reasons for courts' reluctance to impose liability for purely emotional harm include the subjective nature of the injury and corresponding difficulties of proof, the indefinite extension of the emotional consequences of a given act, and the fact that imposing a general duty to use due care to protect the emotional well-being of others would invite wasteful litigation over often trivial matters.

See F. Patrick Hubbard & Robert L. Felix, *The South Carolina Law of Torts* § 2A (4th ed. 2011). Section 436A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, cited by the trial court, further reflects these principles.

In this case, K.S. did not, and could not, state a claim for outrage or intentional infliction of emotional distress against Richland Two. Additionally, K.S. could not establish a claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress because South Carolina courts have expressly limited that claim to “bystander recovery.” See *Kinard*, 286 S.C. at 582-83, 336 S.E. 2d at 467 (recognizing negligent infliction of emotional distress as a cause of action only for bystanders witnessing accidents involving close relatives). See also, *Doe v. Greenville Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 68, 651 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2007), *Stewart*, 341 S.C. 143 at 154, 533 S.E.2d 597 at 603, *Doe v. North Greenville Hosp.*, 318 S.C. 459, 465, 458 S.E.2d 439, 442 (Ct. App. 1995).

Further, K.S. did not offer evidence from which the jury could have determined that he suffered a “physical injury” that would support an award of damages for emotional distress on a gross negligence theory. As the trial court properly noted, “physical injury” is defined as “physical damage to a person’s body.” INJURY, Black’s Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). K.S. offered no evidence of any physical damage to his body. K.S.’s testimony was limited to Ms. Moody leading him by the arm to a cafeteria table and feeling her nails on his arm. (R. pp. 154-155, 158, 159). Mr. Seeger’s testimony confirmed that Ms. Moody did not inflict any cuts, bruises, scratches, or other injury to K.S.’s body. (R. pp. 227-230). Additionally, no physical injury was ever reported to Richland Two. (R. p. 418). Likewise, K.S.’s medical expert similarly confirmed no physical or bodily injuries had ever been claimed or reported to him or other physicians or counselors.

(R. p. 311).

K.S.’s reliance on cases decided before *Ford* and *Kinard*, which hold that “physical manifestation” of emotional distress is sufficient to support damages on a negligence (or gross negligence) claim, is misplaced for two reasons. First, if a plaintiff could recover on a negligence theory merely by showing physical symptoms of emotional distress, there would be no need for an intentional infliction of emotional distress<sup>1</sup> or a bystander negligent infliction of emotional distress claim<sup>2</sup>, as one could simply allege “physically manifested emotional distress caused by negligence,” a much lower threshold. Second, even if physical manifestation of emotional distress was enough to prove damages without physical injury in a gross negligence case, K.S. did not offer any evidence of physical manifestation of emotional distress besides crying, and he was not diagnosed with any mental or emotional condition until seven years after the alleged incident. (R. pp. 229-230).

Finally, *Doe by Doe v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 323 S.C. 33, 448 S.E.2d 564 (Ct. App. 1994), upon which K.S. relies, is inapposite to this case.<sup>3</sup> In that case, the minor plaintiff sued the hospital after a hospital employee had sexually assaulted her. While plaintiff Mary Doe did not sustain a physical injury from the sexual assault, the Court noted that “the record [was] replete with evidence that Mary Doe suffered a severe mental injury

---

<sup>1</sup> An intentional infliction of emotional distress claim requires distress “severe” such that “no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.” *Hansson*, 374 S.C. at 356, 650 S.E.2d at 70.

<sup>2</sup> The Supreme Court confirmed a very narrow, rather than expanded claim for emotional distress allegedly caused by negligence which specifically incorporates the physical manifestation requirement of earlier cases. *See Kinard*, 286 S.C. at 582, 336 S.E.2d at 467. There would be no need for *Kinard*’s bystander limitation if “physical manifestation” were sufficient to support purely emotional damages in any ordinary negligence case, as K.S. urges.

<sup>3</sup> K.S. did not argue the applicability of *Doe by Doe* to the trial court, further demonstrating that it is not applicable to this case.

*as a result of the sexual assault,”* and that she “exhibited physical problems *from the attack* in that she reportedly broke out in hives.” *Doe*, 323 S.C. at 38, 448 S.E.2d at 567 (*emphasis added*).

Taking a first-grade student by the arm to move him to a different location is very far from the sexual assault and battery committed in *Doe* that was almost certain to result in serious emotional injury to the minor plaintiff. Further, unlike the plaintiff in *Doe*, K.S. sustained absolutely no physical manifestation of injury from Ms. Moody moving him by the arm to a different table and offered no evidence of “severe mental injury” arising from any physical act of Ms. Moody. Unlike *Doe*, any emotional injury of K.S. was attributable solely to Ms. Moody’s verbal, rather than physical acts. (R. pp. 310-311). Thus, *Doe* is distinguishable on three bases: that the unwanted physical touching in *Doe* caused the plaintiff’s injuries, that Mary Doe’s mental injury was “severe,” and that Mary Doe had actual, physical manifestations of her mental injury caused by the physical, sexual assault. Accordingly, *Doe* cannot, and should not, be extended to provide a cause of action that would permit students to sue “mean” or “strict” teachers for hurt feelings and emotional upset that otherwise would not support an intentional infliction of emotional distress claim. If K.S. could recover damages for emotional distress based on the testimony and claims alleged in this case, it would render the intentional infliction of emotional distress cause of action and forty years of precedent completely superfluous and impermissibly expand the limited cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress beyond the bystander context. Consequently, the purely emotional injuries allegedly sustained by K.S. from Ms. Moody picking on or “bullying” him are not recoverable under South Carolina law by way of the theories alleged in this case. Therefore, the trial court properly granted the

directed verdict and this Court should affirm.

**B. As An Additional Sustaining Ground, K.S. Did Not Establish Gross Negligence As A Matter Of Law.**

---

As correctly noted by the trial court, the South Carolina Tort Claims Act provides the exclusive remedy in tort actions against Richland Two. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-78-20(b), -30(d), -30(h). In passing the Act, the South Carolina Legislature intended to waive the State's sovereign immunity under certain circumstances while, at the same time, not subjecting the State to unlimited or unqualified liability. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60. As an additional safeguard, the Legislature expressly provided that the Act's exceptions to the waiver of immunity "must be liberally construed in favor of limiting the liability" of covered entities. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(f).

Section 15-78-60(25) is directly applicable to K.S.'s claims. It provides that a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from the entity's exercise of a:

responsibility or duty including but not limited to supervision, protection, control, confinement, or custody of any student... *except when the responsibility or duty is exercised in a grossly negligent manner.*

(*emphasis added*). It is undisputed that this immunity and the gross negligence standard apply to this case.

Gross negligence is "the intentional, conscious failure to do something which it is incumbent upon one to do or the doing of a thing intentionally that one ought not to do." *Etheredge v. Richland Sch. Dist. One*, 341 S.C. 307, 310, 534 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2000); *Clyburn v. Sumter Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 17*, 317 S.C. 50, 451 S.E.2d 885 (1994); *Richardson v. Hambright*, 296 S.C. 504, 374 S.E.2d 296 (1988). Gross negligence also has been defined as a failure to exercise even slight care. *Id.* While gross negligence ordinarily is a

mixed question of law and fact, when the evidence supports but one reasonable inference, the question becomes a matter of law for the court. *Clyburn*, 317 S.C. at 53, 451 S.E.2d at 887. Further, a governmental entity need not “disprove” gross negligence or notice; the burden is on the plaintiff to prove gross negligence. *Stewart v. Richland Mem’l Hosp.*, 350 S.C. 589, 567 S.E.2d 510 (Ct. App. 2002). Finally, the fact that a school district could have done more will not negate the fact that it exercised slight care. *Etheredge*, 341 S.C. at 310, 534 S.E.2d at 277. As long as school officials made some effort to take precautions to protect students from foreseeable harm, they will have exercised slight care and therefore cannot be held liable. *Id.* The ultimate conclusion generally hinges on whether a school district “knew or should have known” of the need to exercise control over the given situation. *Moore v. Berkeley Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 326 S.C. 584, 486 S.E.2d 9 (Ct. App. 1998).

In the present case, just as in *Etheredge* and *Clyburn*, the evidence supports but one reasonable inference—that Richland Two exercised at least slight care to protect the emotional well-being of K.S. after notice of Ms. Moody’s treatment of him. The evidence at trial showed that Richland Two adopted policies prohibiting intimidation, harassment, and bullying and trained employees and students regarding inappropriate conduct by teachers and students and how to address potential misconduct. (R. pp. 282, 317, 551-556, 557-578). The policies clearly prevent teacher intimidation, bullying, and other misconduct toward students. Moreover, Richland Two provided training for employees and students, emphasizing that bullying was not tolerated. (R. pp. 235, 557-578). The student training also stressed how students should report bullying of themselves or other students. (R. pp. 557-578). Finally, school officials took multiple actions to address K.S.’s crying and to determine the root of the crying, which included speaking directly with K.S., several

parent-teacher conferences, and developing a plan to address the crying. (R. pp. 184-185, 368, 382-383, 440).

Prior to the end of September in the 2011 school year, Richland Two had no reason to suspect that Ms. Moody presented a potential hazard to the emotional well-being of students in her class or would be likely to “pick on” K.S. or other students. Once school administrators became aware of Ms. Moody’s actions toward K.S. in the fall of 2011, they took prompt action to move K.S. to a new classroom with a different teacher. (R. pp. 171, 190, 443). Specifically, on the day of the cafeteria incident, which involved Ms. Moody moving K.S. to another table, K.S. was immediately transferred to a new teacher. (R. pp. 171, 190). The alleged conduct that K.S. characterizes as bullying, specifically the statement “don’t give K.S. any special treatment . . . .” occurred on October 10, 2011, and K.S. was moved to a new class, with a new teacher, approximately seven school days later. (R. pp. 217, 219-220, 390). Further, Ms. Moody ultimately resigned her employment in lieu of termination and K.S. never encountered her again. (R. p. 416). K.S. went back to normal and his crying stopped in the new class. (R. pp. 191, 217, 390, 443). At the very least, these efforts constitute “slight care” to prevent and address the injuries K.S. alleged in this case. K.S.’s argument that Richland Two should have done more to discover or address Ms. Moody’s behavior a few days sooner does not negate Richland Two’s actual efforts or render them less than “slight care.” *See Etheredge*, 341 S.C. at 310, 534 S.E.2d at 277.

Moreover, there is simply no legal duty for a South Carolina school district to protect the general emotional well-being of a first-grade student. K.S.’s claim that Ms. Moody did not use proper methods to address his crying in class fundamentally alleges

“educational malpractice” by Ms. Moody or her supervisors, which is clearly foreclosed by *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 578 S.E.2d 711 (2003). Thus, K.S. did not establish a gross negligence claim as a matter of law and this Court should affirm on that additional ground.

**C. As An Additional Sustaining Ground, K.S. Failed To Establish Proximate Cause As Matter Of Law.**

---

As part of his gross negligence claim, K.S. was required to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that that: (1) Richland Two owed him a duty of care, (2) Richland Two breached that duty by a grossly negligent act or omission, (3) Richland Two’s breach was the actual and proximate cause of K.S.’s injury, and (4) K.S. suffered an injury or damages. *Rice v. Sch. Dist. of Fairfield*, 317 S.C. 87, 93, 452 S.E.2d 352, 355 (Ct. App. 1994); *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 400, 645 S.E.2d 245 (2007). “If the plaintiff fails to prove any one of these elements, the action will fail.” *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 400, 477 S.E.2d 715, 721 (Ct. App. 1996). In addition to failing to prove the second and final elements, K.S. failed to prove that Richland Two’s actions or inactions were the proximate cause of his alleged injuries. “Proof of proximate cause requires proof of both causation in fact, and legal cause.” *Oliver v. South Carolina Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Trans.*, 309 S.C. 313, 316, 422 S.E.2d 128, 130 (1992). In order to prove causation in fact, a plaintiff must prove that the injury would not have occurred but for the defendant’s negligence. *Vinson*, 324 S.C. at 400, 477 S.E.2d at 721. Further, a plaintiff must prove that the injury was foreseeable, *i.e.*, that the injury occurred as a natural and probable consequence of the defendant's negligence. *Id.*

In this case, there was no foreseeable nexus between Richland Two’s alleged 2011 actions or inactions and K.S.’s 2018 depression and anxiety diagnosis. Further, K.S.

offered no proof or records of any treatment before 2017 related to his brief time in Ms. Moody's class. Specifically, the testimony at trial and the evidence in the record shows that after K.S. was moved to a new class with a new teacher, he was back to normal and was no longer crying. (R. pp. 191, 217, 390, 443). It was not foreseeable that the October 10, 2011 library incident and the October 20, 2011 cafeteria incident would cause the delayed onset of anxiety and depression approximately seven years later. These alleged highly subjective and delayed injuries simply were not a natural and probable consequence of Richland Two's actions or inactions, which K.S. was required to prove. *See Vinson*, 324 S.C. at 400, 477 S.E.2d at 721.

Based on the evidence in the record, no reasonable juror could find an affirmative causal link between the alleged inaction of Richland Two in 2011 and K.S.'s alleged emotional harm diagnosed in 2018. This Court should affirm for this additional reason.

**D. The Trial Court Properly Excluded Expert Testimony Of Dr. Alan McEvoy That Was Cumulative, Unhelpful, And Had Significant Potential To Confuse The Jury.**

---

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